IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

EDGEWORTH FAMILY TRUST; AMERICAN GRATING, LLC; BRIAN EDGEWORTH AND ANGELA EDGEWORTH, INDIVIDUALLY, AND AS HUSBAND AND WIFE; ROBERT DARBY VANNAH, ESQ.; JOHN BUCHANAN GREENE, ESQ.; AND ROBERT D. VANNAH, CHTD, d/b/a VANNAH & VANNAH, and	Electronically Filed Jun 11 2021 08:49 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Supreme Court Caerk of Supreme Court Dist. Ct. Case No. A-19-807433-C
DOES I through V and ROE CORPORATIONS VI through X,	
inclusive,	
Appellants,	
V.	
LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL S. SIMON, A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION; DANIEL S. SIMON,	

EDGEWORTH APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Respondents.

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellants have timely appealed from the Order denying their Special anti-SLAPP Motion to Dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.647. The Order was entered on October 26, 2020 and notice of entry was filed on October 27, 2020. AA004232-40. Appellants further appeal all rulings made appealable by the foregoing Order.

Appellants' notice of appeal was timely filed on November 3, 2020. AA004252-54. This appeal is made pursuant to the direct appeal provisions of NRS 41.670(4). Therefore, this Court has appellate jurisdiction over all issues presented in this appeal.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12). The appeal raises a question of statewide public importance, namely, the extent of the protections of Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute. The express language of the anti-SLAPP statute provides that an appeal lies to the Supreme Court. NRS 41.670(4) states that "[i]f the court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court."

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

- A. Did the district court err in considering the amended complaint filed without leave of court and after special motions to dismiss the original complaint under Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute had been filed?
- B. Did the district court err by denying the Edgeworths' anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss despite acknowledging the action was premised principally on the judicial record in a prior proceeding in another court (*Simon I*)?
- C. Did the district court err by declining to dismiss under the premise that the decision in *Simon I* and three extrajudicial statements testified to in that proceeding before another judge were dispositive of the good faith prong of the anti-SLAPP statute without even examining the statements?
- D. Did the district court err by relying on unexamined extrajudicial statements regarding judicial proceedings in *Simon I* without considering defendants' contention, supported by authority, that the statements were absolutely privileged?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This retaliatory lawsuit (*Simon II*) was commenced by Respondent Daniel Simon filing a complaint on December 23, 2019, to recover damages under a variety of tort theories from Brian and Angela Edgeworth, the Edgeworth Family Trust, and their business, American Grating, LLC (collectively referred to as Edgeworths) and the Edgeworths' lawyers Robert Vannah, John Greene, and their firm Vannah & Vannah (collectively referred to as Vannah).

Daniel Simon is the Edgeworths' former lawyer who represented them several years ago in a lawsuit in which they recovered a large sum of money. Before the recovery was realized, but after he had been paid several hundred thousand dollars by the Edgeworths under an implied agreement with them to compensate him at the rate of \$550 per hour, Simon demanded more than a million dollars as a bonus, as if he had been working under a contingent fee agreement that he tendered to the Edgeworths, which they refused to sign. Simon then filed a charging lien to secure and collect the bonus he demanded. That lien was adjudicated in *Simon I* by District Court Judge Tierra Jones after a five-day hearing before her and did not result in the recovery of a bonus for Simon.

Simon's tort claims in this case (referred to herein as *Simon II*) before retired Judge James Crockett are based on Judge Jones's decision in *Simon I,* and particularly on testimony of the Edgeworths (in person and in affidavits) before Judge Jones that Simon alleges defamed him and resulted in injury to him under a variety of other tort theories.

The Edgeworths and Vannah filed special anti-SLAAP motions to dismiss Simon's complaint as protected statements under NRS 41.637 and as absolutely privileged statements made in the course of litigation. Before those motions were heard, Simon amended his complaint in an effort to plead around the anti-SLAAP statute, over the objections of the Edgeworths and Vannah. Judge James Crockett ignored the objections, and the Edgeworths and Vannah renewed their special motions to dismiss in response to Simon's amended complaint without waiving their objections to its filing.

3

Judge Crockett held a hearing on the renewed special motions to dismiss the amended complaint, and after announcing that he was leaning toward granting them, and without hearing argument from the defendants, he turned to Simon's counsel to argue against the motions. During that argument Judge Crockett announced he had changed his mind and would deny the motions, saying that Judge Jones's ruling in *Simon I* showed that the Edgeworths' conversion claim that was dismissed by her was not filed in good faith and thus did not meet the requirements of NRS 41.660(3)(a).

Judge Crockett went on to say that although he did not need to address prong 2 of the anti-SLAAP statute (NRS 41.660(3)(b)) in view of his ruling on the first prong, he would do so anyway. Without considering the uncontradicted declarations presented to him by the Edgeworths or any of the privileges applicable to their petitioning and testimony in *Simon I*, and despite the fact Simon *did not present any evidence*, he summarily declared that Simon had established a probability of prevailing on his claims and that the extrajudicial statements Simon alluded to but did not present, raised issues of fact. After saying the hearing was at an end, he grudgingly permitted the Edgeworths' counsel to briefly speak and concluded the hearing. His written decision prepared by Simon's counsel was filed thereafter. This appeal followed.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. THE UNDERLYING LITIGATION IN "SIMON I ".

The Court is familiar with the extensive allegations in the underlying litigation, *Simon I*; it was the subject of two previously decided appeals and a writ petition. Nev. Sup. Ct. Case Nos. 77176, 77678, and 79821. Thus the history of *Simon I* will be summarized only to the extent that history is relevant to this appeal.

1. The Parties and Counsel in *Simon I*

The Edgeworth Family Trust and American Grating LLC were the named plaintiffs in *Simon I*. Brian and Angela Edgeworth are trustees of the Edgeworth Family Trust and the owners of American Grating (the Edgeworths, their Trust, and American Grating are collectively referred to as the "Edgeworths"). Daniel Simon ("Simon") was their attorney until he was constructively discharged on November 29, 2017, when the Edgeworths hired Vannah & Vannah ("Vannah") to work with Simon to wrap up a settlement he had "helped secure." AA004258. The Edgeworths retained Vannah to work with Simon on finalizing the settlement, the principal terms of which had been agreed to on November 15, following mediation. AA000031.

Simon I was initiated by the Edgeworths on the advice of Vannah on January 4, 2018. They alleged breach of contract, declaratory judgment, and conversion claims, after Simon unsuccessfully pressed the Edgeworths to

change the terms of his employment and filed a multi-million dollar charging lien to secure payment of fees *based on his proposed* new terms of employment that the Edgeworths had rejected. AA001289-98.

On behalf of the Edgeworths, Vannah amended the complaint on March 15, 2018 to add a claim for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. AA001300-11. Robert Vannah declared that he filed these claims in good faith after a thorough review of the facts and the law as he understood them. AA000868 ¶25.

2. Nature of the Dispute in *Simon I*

Despite having billed the Edgeworths at a "reduced' rate of \$550 per hour," for nearly 18 months (AA000030 ¶¶7-11), on the eve of finalizing the settlement accepted on November 15, Simon called the Edgeworths to his office to say he wanted almost \$1 million more than what he had earned at \$550 per hour. AA003066 ¶55. "If," Simon told the Edgeworths, "you are not agreeable, then I cannot continue to lose money and help you." AA003114; AA003110-17 (Simon's complete proposal to replace compensation at \$550 per hour). Simon invited the Edgeworths to contact other counsel to verify that his proposal should be accepted, and two days later they hired Vannah and constructively discharged Simon. Thereafter, acting on advice of their new counsel, the Edgeworths sued Simon for breach of contract and conversion, as indicated above.

Simon moved to dismiss *Simon I* (AA000028; AA004258) and moved to adjudicate his charging lien in the net sum of \$1,977,843.80 (AA000032

6

 $\P20$ with an attached invoice for \$692,120 for legal services rendered (AA000033 $\P25$). Because district court Judge Tierra Jones found no express agreement existed between Simon and the Edgeworths with respect to attorney fees, she dismissed the contract-based claims. She also dismissed the conversion claim under NRCP 12(b)(5). AA000028-37.

Dismissal of the Edgeworths' conversion claim in *Simon I* followed a five-day evidentiary hearing set by the court to adjudicate Simon's charging lien. AA000033 ¶25. The district court found that Simon was employed through November 29, 2017 under an implied contract for \$550 per hour and that he was constructively discharged on November 29, when Vannah was hired. AA000012; AA000015:1-2. The district court rejected Simon's claim for a bonus, and held that he was entitled to the reasonable value of his services for the limited work he performed post-discharge to wrap up his work on the now-settled case, which she pegged at \$200,000, without describing the nature or value of the post-discharge work or stating how \$200,000 for that negligible work was reasonable under a *Brunzell* analysis. AA000024. Given the number of hours Simon submitted for post-discharge work, 71.10, that award of fees yielded compensation to him at a rate of *\$2,789 per hour*. (AA000282-286 and AA000423-25 billed entries from 11/30/17 to end of billings total 71.10 hours).

With respect to the dismissed conversion claim, the district court granted Simon fees and costs because she concluded that under NRS 18.010, the claim was not "maintained upon reasonable grounds." AA004264;

AA000677-79. She awarded Simon \$5,000 in expert costs (later determined to be only \$2,520) and \$50,000 in attorneys' fees, which she also did not arrive at under *Brunzell. Id.* The district court's order granting the NRCP 12(b)(5) dismissal of the conversion claim *did not* attribute bad faith to the Edgeworths in filing it. AA000028-37. In fact, although the district court concluded as a matter of law that the conversion claim should be dismissed, Judge Jones recognized that "the Edgeworths 'believed' that the settlement proceeds [Simon had liened] were solely theirs." AA000034:6-8. Furthermore, the district court rejected Simon's request for fees and costs to defend the other claims and for the lien adjudication. AA000678 ¶2.

This Court in its order in the consolidated cases No. 77678/78176, filed on December 30, 2020, affirmed the district court's finding that Simon was constructively discharged on November 29, 2017 and its award of costs associated with defending the conversion claim. AA004260; AA004266. However, this Court also held that the district court had not properly substantiated the fee awards she made and remanded the case with instructions to the district court to examine the reasonableness of the \$50,000 awarded to defend the conversion claim, and explain the basis and reasonableness of the \$200,000 awarded for post-discharge work under *Brunzell.* AA004266.

B. THE RETALIATORY *SIMON II* LITIGATION – THIS CASE.

1. The Initial Complaint

Based exclusively on the record in Simon I, on December 23, 2019, Simon filed this retaliatory lawsuit naming the Trust, American Grating, the Edgeworths personally, and the Vannah lawyers who represented them following Simon's discharge on November 29, 2017. Simon alleged seven causes of action against the Edgeworths: (1) Wrongful Use of Civil Proceedings (which Nevada has not recognized); (2) Malicious Prosecution; (3) Abuse of Process; (5) Defamation Per Se; (6) Business Disparagement; (7) Negligence; and (8) Civil Conspiracy. AA000046-55 (Cts. I-III, V-VIII). He also alleged a claim for Negligent Hiring, Retention and Supervision against the Vannah parties. AA000050-51 (Ct. IV). The gist of all the claims was that the Edgeworths, acting through counsel, made baseless legal claims and unspecified false and disparaging statements in support of their claim for conversion in Simon I. AA000041-47 (Compl. ¶¶12 – 29); see also, id. (e.g., ¶¶31–35, 41–44, 49–52, 66, 79, 84). *All* of Simon's allegations are based on statements or judicial claims made on the advice of counsel in Simon I. Id. (see, e.g., ¶23 (asserting that unidentified "false documents" were "filed" "[d]uring the course of the litigation").

Simon's only allegation regarding alleged defamation per se is in paragraph 66, which does not reference specific statements but instead refers to the Edgeworths' "publicly filed" complaint, briefs and affidavits filed in the *Simon I* proceeding. AA000051 ¶66. Simon's complaint merely adds

formulaic and conclusory allegations to describe the elements of the socalled defamation claim. *Id.* ("The Edgeworth's [sic] repeated these [unidentified judicial] statements to individuals independent of the litigation"); *Id.* at ¶68 ("publication of these statements to third parties was not privileged").

2. The Amended Complaint.

After the Edgeworths filed their special anti-SLAPP motions to dismiss this retaliatory lawsuit (AA000924-37; AA000938-83), Simon filed an amended complaint without leave of court to do so. AA000995-1022. In it, Simon replaces the second cause of action for wrongful prosecution with a claim for intentional interference with prospective economic advantage, without reference to any specific business relationships or "interference" other than the Edgeworths filing *Simon I*. AA001007-08. In Simon's untimely and unauthorized amended complaint, he attempts to plead around and out of the anti-SLAPP statute by adding "new" allegations about "false documents asserting blackmail, extortion and theft" that had been filed in Simon I, claiming that these documents are "evidenced by" Brian Edgeworth's February and March 2018 affidavits and in-court testimony of Angela Edgeworth in Simon I in September 2018. AA001001 ¶23; AA001013 $\P77$; see also id. $\P\P75$ - 76 (adding that the Edgeworths spoke of Simon I to people "who were not significantly interested in the proceedings").¹

¹ Judge Crockett ignored defendants' objection to Simon filing an amended complaint while their special anti-SLAPP motion was pending.

a. The Amended Complaint is Deficient.

Remarkably, Simon's amended complaint does not directly set out the allegedly defamatory statements the Edgeworths supposedly made to three supposedly disinterested people: attorney Lisa Carteen, former Justice Miriam Shearing, and volleyball coach Ruben Herrera. *See* AA001013 ¶23 (merely pointing to record excerpts from *Simon I*, but not the participant in the conversation); AA001013 ¶77 (same)). Nor does Simon identify what portion of the statements were allegedly defamatory or the specific damage that resulted from the statements, all of which were undisputedly presented to the district court in the course of the *Sim`on I* judicial proceedings.² *Id.* Simon also threw in a request for *Rocker* discovery in his amended

Nevertheless, to avoid delay, the defendants renewed their Special Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint (AA002372-74), without waiving their objections to the untimeliness or propriety of amendment in the midst of Special Anti-SLAPP motion practice. On order of the district court (AA002878A-B), the Edgeworths again renewed their Special Motion to Dismiss on August 27, 2020, and again raised the impropriety of permitting amendment in the midst of anti-SLAPP motion practice. AA003498:14-27; AA003996 n.1 (reserved all rights). The renewed motions were not heard until October 20, 2020, far beyond the time required in NRS 41.660(3)(f).

² During the five-day hearing before Judge Jones, Simon's counsel suggested to the Edgeworths in cross-examination that in speaking to Coach Herrera, Ms. Carteen, and former Justice Shearing that they *accused* Simon of "stealing," "extortion" and the like which the Edgeworths unequivocally denied. To each person, they expressed their opinion of how Simon was treating them in unreasonably and, without any basis, pressuring them to obtain \$1M+ dollars from them as a "fee" *in addition to* what he earned, was paid, and accepted at \$550 per hour.

complaint, without specifying why it was necessary. AA001014-15 ¶82; *but see*, NRS 41.660(4) ("court shall allow limited discovery" only "[u]pon a showing by a party that information necessary to oppose the burden pursuant to paragraph (b) of subsection 3 is . . . not reasonably available without discovery").

Without offering more than these bare references to the prior judicial proceeding, and notwithstanding declarations and sworn testimony given by the Edgeworths explaining the timing and context of these three extrajudicial statements, Simon, in his opposition papers and especially at the motions to dismiss hearing before Judge Crockett, leaned heavily on his *contention* that the district court's fees and costs award under NRS 18.010 in *Simon I* and the alleged three extrajudicial defamatory statements that he alluded to but *never identified* in his deficient amended complaint precluded dismissal under NRS 41.660. *See generally* AA003523-53; AA004197-211. The three communications alluded to by Simon in his amended complaint are described below.

FIRST Conversation.³ Brian and Angela Edgeworth founded the Las Vegas Aces Volleyball Club, a nonprofit corporation to promote volleyball for children in southern Nevada. AA001193:6-7. The Edgeworths' two

³ This conversation, and the second one, took place more than two years before Simon filed his complaint. To the extent that he suggests these statements are actionable, he is wrong: they fall outside the statute of limitations. *See* NRS 11.190(4)(c) (defamation is subject to the two year statute of limitation).

daughters and Simon's daughter were on Club teams. Ruben Herrera was the head coach and Club Director (hereafter "Coach Herrera"). AA003074 ¶110. The Edgeworths and Simon were Club board members. Simon sent Coach Herrera unsolicited emails on November 30 and December 4, *after* filing his charging lien, insinuating that the Edgeworths were a danger to children. AA003134-36; AA003074 ¶112.

The emails to Coach Herrera were not copied to the Edgeworths. *Id.* In the emails, Simon requested that his daughter be excused from practice and released from the Club because she had to be kept away – to protect her – from the Edgeworths. AA003134-36. Coach Herrera then confronted Brian about Simon's emails and forwarded them to Brian (AA003134), who, in response, met with Coach Herrera that same day at a restaurant open to the public to explain that Simon's false accusatory emails were the product of an ongoing fee dispute with Simon. AA003074 ¶¶113-19. Brian testified to this meeting at the hearing in *Simon I* before Judge Jones and said that although he personally *felt* Simon was trying to extort millions of dollars from [him] which he was not entitled to, he did not use the word "extort" in explaining the lien and fee dispute with Simon to Coach Herrera.⁴ AA001194-95;

⁴ Even if Brian had used the word "extort" to describe his feelings and personal beliefs, courts have recognized that the mere use of this word constitutes opinion. *Blevins v. W.F. Barnes Corp.*, 768 So. 2d 386, 391 (Ala. Civ. App. 1999); *Sabharwal & Finkel, LLC v. Sorrell*, 985 N.Y.S. 2d 70, 70-71 (N.Y. App. Div. 2014); *see also Abrams v. Sanson*, 136 Nev. 83, 90, 458 P.3d 1062, 1068-69 (2020) (the gist, rather than the literal meaning of specific words, should be considered). Statements of opinion are incapable of being

AA002320:5-10; AA003075. Brian's declaration was offered in good faith in *Simon I* to explain that the defamatory emails were the real reason that he did not wish to speak to Simon.⁵ AA001320 \P 26.

SECOND Conversation. The second extrajudicial statement which Simon alludes to as defamatory in his amended complaint occurred in a conversation between Angela Edgeworth ("Angela") and her long-time business lawyer, Lisa Carteen, over dinner at a local sushi restaurant on December 21, 2017. AA003619 ¶39. Again, as he failed to do in addressing Brian's conversation with Coach Herrera, Simon does not identify the alleged defamatory statement; he merely incorporates by reference portions of Angela's testimony in *Simon I* before Judge Jones, which of course is absolutely privileged, in which she acknowledges discussing the ongoing fee dispute, and her feelings about it with her lawyer, Ms. Carteen, whom Angela also described as a friend. AA001001, AA001013 ¶¶23, 75; AA003420:12-25 (acknowledging she *felt* blackmailed and extorted); AA003425 (same); *but see* AA003394:1-7 (identifying Ms. Carteen as one of two lawyers she consulted for advice); AA003371 (confirming that in her

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