IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ROBERT DARBY VANNAH, ESQ.; JOHN BUCHANAN GREENE, ESQ.; and ROBERT D. VANNAH, CHTD. d/b/a VANNAH & VANNAH; EDGEWORTH FAMILY TRUST; AMERICAN GRATING, LLC; BRIAN EDGEWORTH AND ANGELA EDGEWORTH. INDIVIDUALLY, AS HUSBAND AND WIFE,

Appellants, VS.

1

2

3

4

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

THE LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL S. SIMON, A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION; AND DANIEL S. SIMON,

Respondents.

SUPREME COURT CASELECTOR 2058 Filed Sep 09 2021 06:46 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

SIMON RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF TO EDGEWORTH **PARTIES' OPENING BRIEF**

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

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

IV.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court's conclusions of law, including statutory interpretations, are reviewed de novo. Borger v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 120 Nev. 1021, 1026, 102 P.3d 600, 604 (2004). The Edgeworth's jurisdictional statement asserts all issues raised are appealable under NRS 41.670(4). Simon disagrees. The Edgeworth Parties have appealed Judge Crockett's order based only on NRS 41.660. The Edgeworth Parties did not file a motion to dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5).

Pursuant to NRS 41.660(1), Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute, a defendant will prevail on a motion to dismiss *only* where the complaint is based on a good faith communication made in furtherance of the right to petition or right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern. See NRS 41.660(1). A moving party seeking protection under NRS 41.660 must demonstrate by "'a preponderance of the evidence that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of . . . the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." See Coker v. Sassone, 135 Nev. Adv. Rep. 2, 432 P.3d 746, 749 (2019) (quoting NRS 41.660(3)(a)). "If successful, the district court advances to the second prong, whereby "'the burden shifts to the plaintiff to show 'with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim." Id. at 750 (quoting NRS 41.660(3)(b)). "Otherwise, the inquiry ends at the first prong, and the case advances

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

to discovery." Id. NRS 41.637(4) defines one such category as: "[c]ommunication made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum . . . which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." In Shapiro v. Welt, 133 Nev. Adv. Rep. 6, *9-10, 389 P.3d 262, 268 (2017), the Nevada Supreme Court clarified that "no communication falls within the purview of NRS 41.660 unless it is "truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." Additionally, a retaliatory complaint does not qualify as protected speech falling within the protections of Anti-SLAPP. Bonni v. St. Joseph Health Sys., 2021 WL 3201090 (Cal. July 29, 2021).

V.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Simon and his wife considered the Edgeworths close friends and treated them like family. RA000766:15-20. They travelled around the world and their kids went to school together. AA003821:19-23. Mrs. Simon planned the funeral for Mrs. Edgeworth's father, among many other favors as close friends. *Id.* They shared special events, including birthdays.

In June of 2016, Brian Edgeworth approached Simon to ask him for help regarding a flood that occurred in a spec home developed by his company, American Grating. AA001151-1152. The flood resulted from the premature activation of the fire sprinklers, causing approximately \$500,000.00 in property

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

damage. He met with other lawyers that wanted a large retainer. *Id.* Mr. Simon agreed to help by writing letters to insurance companies as a favor to try and trigger coverage for the property damage. RA000766:15-RA000767:10. When those requests were denied, Mr. Simon filed suit on behalf of Edgeworth against the sprinkler installer, Lange Plumbing, and the sprinkler manufacturer, Viking, including claims for breach of contract and product liability. *Id*.

Simon worked tirelessly on the case, conducting extensive discovery and motion practice and addressing thousands of emails, mostly from Edgeworth. While doing so, Simon did provide invoices that were paid by Edgeworth in order to prove his element of damages against the Plumber, Lange Plumbing because the contract included an attorney's fees provision. RA000767:12-RA000768:3. The case quickly elevated to a significant products liability case against a world-wide manufacturer.

Given the nature of their relationship and because the case was being aggressively litigated with multiple expert depositions and motion work, Simon and Edgeworth never finalized a formal agreement. Instead, Simon prosecuted the case, and after an unsuccessful November 10, 2017 mediation, Simon ultimately negotiated a \$6 million settlement with Viking - for what started out as a \$500,000 property damage claim. RA000302.

While traveling back from meeting with experts in the summer of 2017, Edgeworth acknowledged if another firm had the case, the bills generated at that time would be three times what they were and he knew the bills were not the full fee. RA000764:6-RA000765:3. Shortly after, and months before the November 2017 settlement was reached, Edgeworth sent an unsolicited email to Simon – it was in fact, Edgeworth, who suggested some form of contingent fee arrangement. AA001158; AA003777:12-23. This email confirms no agreement existed, but discussions were ongoing and the only time a fair fee could be determined was at the end of the case. RA000882:19-RA000883:1. Brian Edgeworth conceded a contract could not have been entered into earlier because the dynamics of the case were fluid and the highly successful outcome could not have been anticipated earlier on. RA000514:14-20; AA000995-1022 ¶13.

The Edgeworths paid a minimal amount for attorney's fees during the underlying hotly contested case against a world-wide manufacturer. This benefited the Edgeworths as they always cried poor (which was later revealed to be a ploy). It also shows the risk Simon shared and why he agreed to determine a fair fee at the end of the case. RA000904:23-RA000905:1. The Edgeworth's false framing of the case ignores they did not want to pay any additional attorney's fees or costs when the frivolous conversion complaint was filed.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

A. THERE WAS NEVER AN EXPRESS ARGEEMENT REGARDING **ATTORNEY'S FEES**

Simon and Edgeworth did not have an express agreement for fees and costs because the case started out as a favor. RA000762:20-22. Simon composed bills to be used for the Rule 16.1 calculation of damages given that the construction contract had an attorneys' fees provision. RA000830:25-RA000831:11.

The Edgeworth Parties' reliance on the fact they paid part of Simon's fee based on the hourly bills is misplaced because that alone does not establish an express oral contract. The district court in Simon I heard testimony on the issue and found only an implied agreement, which the Edgeworth's terminated. AA000010; AA000016-17. As a result, Simon's office was left with a valid and enforceable lien claim for unpaid fees and advanced costs, which the district court adjudicated in Simon's favor. AA000004-26. The period of outstanding attorney's fees owed at the time of discharge was from September 2017 through March 2018. Simon continued to work to protect the client's interests long after discharge. In fact, the district court in Simon I commended Simon's efforts after discharge. AA000022-23. Equally significant, because no express contract existed, there was nothing to modify. Simon never approached Edgeworth to change anything and never asked for a bonus.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

B. SIMON SENT THE NOVEMBER 27, 2017 LETTER AT THE REQUEST OF THE EDGEWORTHS.

On November 17, 2017, Simon met with the Edgeworths to discuss finalizing the settlement with Viking and pursuing their remaining claims against Lange Plumbing. Simon believed the Edgeworth Parties should consider proceeding to trial against the non-settling parties in order to obtain additional damages that would include recovering their attorney fees and costs from the Viking settlement. Simon provided the Edgeworths a copy of the outstanding costs, which Simon fronted for months at a time, and he advised the Edgeworths that any fees and costs paid to Simon would likely be recovered against Lange Plumbing under the construction contract. RA000778:17-RA000780:1. Thus, in light of those remaining claims and the fact they had not yet taken the opportunity to fully discuss Brian Edgeworth's August proposal to negotiate a final fee agreement, it was time to discuss the fair and reasonable attorney's fees.

The Edgeworths left Simon's office after stating they would discuss the fee issue among themselves and let Simon know their position. RA000794:11-15. this meeting, Mr. Edgeworth started acting quite different. Following RA000793:18-RA000794:7. His demeanor deviated drastically from the close working relationship and friendship he and Mr. Simon once enjoyed -- it was extremely difficult to reach him in order to communicate. Id. Nevertheless,

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Edgeworth acknowledged the case was not a straight hourly matter and a fair fee needed to be decided. To that end, Edgeworth asked for something in writing so a fair fee could be worked out. RA000793:14-RA000794:7. In an effort to meet that request, Simon asked Edgeworth for a breakdown of what he believed were his outof-pocket expenses. RA000783:4-14. Mr. Edgeworth forwarded an email to Mr. Simon on November 21, 2017 solely for this purpose. RA000303.

Pursuant to their request, Simon sent the Edgeworths a detailed letter outlining the proposed fee. AA003110-3117. Mr. Simon offered to receive a greatly reduced fee of \$1.5 million and further reduced this amount by crediting all partial payments already received. *Id.* Simon also suggested the Edgeworths consider the exceptional result achieved. The Edgeworths refused to make a single phone call to Mr. Simon after receiving the letter. Instead, they responded by hiring Vannah that same day and ceasing all communications with Simon. RA000304. Against Simon's advice, the Vannah lawyers counseled the Edgeworths to waive the valuable claim against the Plumber and they opted instead to punish Simon. RA000305-306.

Vannah demanded Simon provide his attorney lien for the services provided. Simon provided the attorney lien on December 1, 2017 for the reasonable value of his services pursuant to NRS 18.015. AA000099-103. The Edgeworth's refused to sign the settlement checks. AA001268-1271. Vannah proposed and Simon agreed

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

to place the monies in a joint account with Vannah as a signor wherein Edgeworth would receive all of the interest while the lien dispute would be adjudicated. AA001125-1130; AA001198.

The settlement funds were placed in the joint account on January 8, 2018. RA000307-308. Nevertheless, Vannah filed suit on behalf of the Edgeworths alleging conversion of the settlement funds against Simon on January 4, 2018, and served their Complaint on Simon January 9, 2018, the day after the settlement monies were deposited in the joint account. AA000112-121. The funds finally cleared the account January 16, 2018.

Edgeworths and Vannah knew exactly what they were doing when filing a frivolous conversion suit. They filed the suit and included false narratives to support it – all in an attempt to thwart the lien adjudication. They filed an Amended Complaint months later asserting the same false allegations and continued to pursue the conversion claim relentlessly up and through a five-day Evidentiary Hearing before the district court.

The Evidentiary Hearing revealed Edgeworths' falsities and bad faith conduct. Simon never asked for a contingency fee or a percentage (a proposed agreement for a flat fee representing the reasonable value of services is not a contingency fee). Mr. Simon never asked for a bonus. This was a term fabricated and used solely by the Edgeworth Parties. RA000534:25-RA000535:10. The

Edgeworth Parties also falsely asserted Simon blackmailed and extorted millions from their settlement to support the frivolous conversion claim and asked the district court to find he was already paid in full. They also sought punitive damages against Simon personally for merely asserting an attorney lien. AA003940:25-AA00341:18. In regard to the proposed fee, Mr. Simon never said "agree to it or else." This is another self-serving interpretation to justify the Edgeworth Parties' misconduct. Afterall, within two days, the Edgeworths had competent new counsel, who could readily finalize the settlement. The district court in Simon I rejected these wild and false assertions and found the Edgeworth Parties' conversion claim was filed and maintained in bad faith, not maintained on reasonable grounds and was meritless, thus dismissing their Complaint in its entirety with prejudice. AA000028-37; AA001096-1099.

C. THE EDGEWORTH AND VANNAH PARTIES CONTINUE TO MAKE FALSE CLAIMS AGAINST SIMON

1. The Edgeworth and Vannah Parties Falsely Claim Simon Unilaterally Put His Name on the Settlement Check

Edgeworth Parties incredulously contended as a basis for conversion that Simon unilaterally requested the settlement check be made payable to both Simon and the Edgeworths. AA003508. This false explanation fell on its face when the third-party release expressly delineated how and to whom the settlement check would be made payable. AA001261, paragraph A. The Vannah Attorneys and the

Edgeworths reviewed and agreed to put Simon's name on the check. *Id.* This argument has now been abandoned.

2. The Edgeworth and Vannah Parties Falsely Claim Simon Would Not Put The Money In Vannah's Account

The Edgeworth Parties then argued Simon refused to deposit the money into Vannah's account. AA003509:2-5. First, the Vannah lawyers never made such a request and they know very well even if the money was deposited in Simon's account, that would have been the equivalent of interpleading the funds with the court. See e.g., Golightly & Vannah, 132 Nev. 416, 418 (2016). Even worse, Simon immediately agreed with Vannah and Edgeworth to put the money in a special protected account earning the Edgeworths 100% of the interest, even on Simon's share. AA001198. Vannah and Edgeworth met Simon at the bank to jointly deposit the funds and thus, knew exactly where the money was at all times. *Id.* This means that a claim never existed because Simon never had exclusive control of the funds and Edgeworth never had any damages. Kasdan, Simonds, McIntyre, Epstein & Martin v. World Sav. & Loan Ass'n (In re Emery), 317 F.3d 1064 (9th Cir. Cal.2003). Vannah knew this, which means so did the Edgeworths. This argument has also since been abandoned.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

3. The Edgeworth and Vannah Parties Falsely Claim the Conversion Complaint Was Filed When Simon Refused To Release The Funds

Vannah and Edgeworth in sworn affidavits, state: "When Mr. Simon continued to exercise dominion and control over an unreasonable amount of the settlement proceeds, litigation was filed and served including a complaint and an amended complaint." AA002914-2915. Edgeworth repeats this false statement. AA003077. Vannah and Edgeworth both knew the proceeds had not even been received when the initial lawsuit was filed on January 4, 2018.

4. The Edgeworth and Vannah Parties Falsely Claim The Lien **Amount Was The Basis For The Conversion Complaint**

The reasoning underlying the conversion complaint has continued to evolve - presumably to escape liability. The amount of the lien was never argued to the district court as a basis for conversion in Simon I, but only started on appeal of Simon I. Vannah and Edgeworth, in their briefing to this Court argue the lien amount is too big. Remarkably, Vannah and Edgeworth did not even know the lien amount when the initial conversion complaint was filed which is evidenced by the fact the complaint asserts an amount was not given. AA000119:19-AA000120:20. Even worse, they never challenged the lien amount at the evidentiary hearing. AA003943:4-AA003946:2.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

5. The Edgeworth and Vannah Parties Falsely Claim Simon Sought A Bonus

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